IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	
	Case No. SC09-2022
Complainant,	
-	TFB File Nos. 2008-00,715(8B),
v.	2009-00,113(8B),
	2009-00,116(8B),
WILLIAM BEDFORD WATSON, III,	2009-00,142(8B)
Respondent.	
/	

INITIAL BRIEF

James A.G. Davey, Jr., Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (850) 561-5845 Florida Bar No. 141717

Kenneth Lawrence Marvin, Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Florida Bar No. 200999

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Complainant, The Florida Bar, is seeking review of a Report of Referee recommending that Respondent receive a 90-day suspension and probation for trust account violations which resulted in harm to four people who lost approximately \$420,000 because Respondent transferred their money out of his trust account for an unintended purpose. Most of the money is missing.

Complainant will be referred to as The Florida Bar, or as the Bar. William Bedford Watson, III, Respondent, will be referred to as Respondent, or as Mr. Watson throughout this brief.

References to the Report of Referee shall be by the symbol RR. The Referee did not number the pages, so the Bar will refer to them as if they were numbered, starting with the page entitled Report of Referee as page 1 and including thereafter the other pages (e.g., RR, 3). The Referee submitted a separate Report of Referee for the Sanction Phase, which will be referred to by the symbol RRS, followed by page numbers assigned as if they had been numbered by the Referee (e.g., RRS, 2), starting with the first page entitled Report of Referee (Sanction Phase).

The Grievance Committee transcript and its exhibits were admitted into evidence as TFB #1. References to this transcript will be by symbol TFB #1, followed

by the appropriate page number (e.g., TFB #1, 30). References to exhibits to the transcript shall be by symbol Ex. followed by the number (e.g., TFB #1, Ex. 14).

The emergency suspension hearing transcript was admitted into evidence as TFB #2. References to this transcript will be by symbol TFB #2, followed by the appropriate page number (e.g., TFB #2, 17). References to exhibits to that transcript shall be by symbol Ex. followed by the number (e.g., TFB #2, Ex. 7).

The transcripts of the final hearing (guilt phase) were admitted into evidence as TFB #33 and TFB #34. References to those transcripts shall be by symbol TFB #33 or TFB #34 followed by the appropriate page number (e.g., TFB 33, 6). References to exhibits to those transcripts shall be by symbol TFB #33 or TFB #34, followed by Ex., followed by the number (e.g., TFB #33, Ex. 13).

References to specific pleadings will be made by title.

References to the transcript of the sanction phase of the final hearing shall be by symbol TRS, followed by the appropriate page number (e.g., TRS, 4).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar filed its Complaint and Request for Admissions on November 18, 2009.

The Referee was appointed on November 16, 2009.

Respondent filed his Answer to the Complaint and a Motion to Strike Request for Admissions on November 18, 2009, and a Motion to Disqualify Referee on November 25, 2009. The Florida Bar filed its responses to the Motion to Strike and the Motion to Disqualify on November 30, 2009, and December 3, 2009, respectively.

On December 16, 2009, the Referee entered an Order denying Respondent's Motion to Disqualify.

A Case Management Conference was held on December 30, 2009, at which time Respondent waived the 90-day rule and venue and agreed to hold the final hearing in Tavares, Florida. Respondent filed the Notice of Waiver of Venue and Ninety-Day Requirement on February 8, 2010.

A telephonic hearing was held on February 8, 2010, on Respondent's Motion to Strike Request for Admissions. The Referee granted the motion and an Order was entered on February 10, 2010.

On March 17, 2010, the Supreme Court entered an Order granting the Referee's Motion for Extension of Time to and including June 15, 2010.

A Pre-Trial Conference was held on March 18, 2010, and the Referee entered an Order setting discovery cutoff and the parties exchange of exhibits for April 20, 2010.

The Final Hearing as to guilt was held on April 27, 2010, and April 28, 2010, and the sanction phase hearing was held on June 11, 2010.

The Florida Bar filed its Affidavit of Costs on June 14, 2010.

Respondent filed an Objection to Payment of The Florida Bar's Costs on June 17, 2010, and The Florida Bar filed its Response on June 21, 2010.

On June 22,2 010, the Supreme Court of Florida entered an Order granting an Agreed Motion for Extension of Time to and including July 12, 2010.

The Referee filed his Report of Referee (Sanction Phase) on June 24, 2010. The Referee did not desire proposed reports from counsel, so none were submitted.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts of this case are extremely complicated. Therefore, the following abbreviated "in a nutshell" version is submitted for ease of review:

Respondent assured potential investors in real estate development projects that, if they invested by putting their money into his trust account, that it would stay there. He provided one of the investors with a written assurance of that fact. The purpose of the money was to act as collateral to convince a bank to issue a standby letter of credit. The investor's money would be returned with huge interest to them in a short period of time. Respondent drafted and signed two letters containing false statements in order to convince another of the investors to participate. Four investors sent a total of \$492,000 to Respondent's trust account. Respondent, although he had a fiduciary duty to them, transferred the money out without their permission, paid a prior investor from the funds of one of the four, lied to them about the whereabouts of the money, and refused to provide an accounting for the money. Most of the money has disappeared.

The specific facts are as follows:

In January 2008, Respondent agreed to help Jason Meyer ("Meyer"), a Minneapolis developer, by using his trust account as a repository for funds solicited from third party investors to obtain standby letters of credit, a financing device that

Meyer was using to fund real estate development projects. (RR, 2) Respondent had experience in handling international transactions, transactional funding, and large real estate projects. (RR, 3) Respondent and Meyer never personally met, and all of their contact was by telephone or email. (RR, 3)

Phil Walton ("Walton") lives in Florida. He makes his living through commercial transactions, usually assisting individuals in obtaining financing for projects. Respondent had known him since approximately 2002 or 2003. (RR, 2)

In an effort to obtain the necessary funding, Meyer asked Walton to get assistance from Navin Subramaniam-Xavier ("Navin"), who was also in Florida working as a commodity trader and investor. Meyer had known Navin since the end of 2007. (RR, 3)

Meyer introduced Navin to Respondent during a telephone conference call. Navin and Respondent had many telephone conversations in January, 2008. Navin said that Respondent told him he had done these transactions many times before and that they were secure. Navin also asked his friend, Karl Brown ("Brown"), a general magistrate in Dade County and member of The Florida Bar since 1991, for advice about the investment. Navin had acted as a mortgage broker for Brown, and they had been friends for 10 years. (RR, 3)

Navin was able to obtain \$400,000.00 from his uncle to assist in funding Meyer's project. Brown reviewed some documents that Navin had prepared for his uncle's transaction. At Navin's request, Brown also investigated Respondent. Brown determined that Respondent was an AV rated lawyer with a good reputation. (RR, 3)

On January 14, 2008, Navin and Meyer signed the contract that Navin had prepared. Respondent played no part in the negotiation or preparation of the contract. The agreement specifically provides that Navin's funds are to be held in Respondent's trust account. For this investment, Navin and his uncle were to be repaid the principal plus \$300,000.00, within 48 hours. (RR, 4)

On January 15, 2008, Navin transferred his uncle's \$400,000.00 into Respondent's trust account. Respondent wrote a letter to Navin the same day, acknowledging the agreement. Respondent and Navin had telephone conversations that day concerning the funds. Navin agreed that the funds could be released from Respondent's trust account and disbursed according to Meyer's instructions, which was confirmed by e-mail messages between Respondent and Navin. (RR, 4)

Steven Hooks ("Hooks") is an investor and financial consultant in Texas. In early January 2008, he was introduced to Meyer through a mutual friend. Hooks understood that Meyer was in the process of securing funds for a development project

Respondent, although the terms of the deal were negotiated by Hooks and Meyer, not Respondent. Hooks understood from Meyer that for his investment of \$300,000.00, he would receive a return of \$600,000.00 within 48 hours. He also understood that his funds would remain in Respondent's trust account, and not be disbursed without his permission. Respondent denies telling Hooks anything about the funds remaining in his trust account, nor did he hear Meyer say that. (RR, 5)

However, Respondent wrote a letter to Hooks on January 8, 2008, summarizing the transaction. The copy of the letter is not signed, and Hooks denies receiving it. Respondent wrote another letter to Hooks on January 16, 2008, which he called a "disbursement letter." Respondent said that he prepared that letter based on his understanding of the transaction from Hooks. This letter was transmitted by e-mail to Hooks, with copies to Meyer and Walton. Hooks received that letter and believed that it accurately reflected his understanding of the transaction, particularly concerning the funds being held in Respondent's trust account. Within hours after receiving the letter, Meyer made handwritten changes to it and transmitted it by e-mail to Hooks, with a copy to Respondent. Hooks denies receiving the changed version. Although

Respondent received his copy, he did not communicate with Hooks regarding the corrected letter. (RR, 5)

On January 22, 2008, Hooks transferred \$300,000.00 into Respondent's trust account. The next day, Respondent, acting upon Meyer's instructions, disbursed those funds from his trust account. The \$300,000 sent to Respondent on January 22, 2008, by Hooks was transferred out the next day – January 23, 2008. Of the \$300,000, \$125,000 was transferred to HSBC Bank in Singapore to Emerald International, the company owned by Navin's uncle, a prior investor. (TFB #33, 121-125, TFB #33 Ex. 20, 21, 22) The Florida Bar's expert trust account auditor testified that, in his opinion, this was a Ponzi scheme, as the definition of that scheme is use of subsequent investor's funds to pay previous investors. (TFB #33, 125) Respondent has admitted that, at the time he transferred the \$125,000 to Navin's uncle, he realized that Navin's uncle was a prior investor. (TFB #34, 239) When he later learned that the money was gone, Hooks made an effort to recover his funds, both through Respondent and Meyer. He said that Meyer has repaid him about \$72,000.00, but not the balance. Respondent was actively involved in Meyer's scheme. (TFB #2, 46-50; TFB #2, Ex. 62; TFB #33, 43, 44)

Navin continued to contact other individuals about investing with Meyer. He requested Walton to send him an e-mail, so that he would have something in writing to show proposed investors. Walton did so on January 28, 2008. Walton's e-mail message to Navin states, in part, "This is an excellent opportunity for an investor no risk and Watson & Watson will provide a letter of undertaking to the lender that payment will be effected from the first disbursement from the transaction that is being funded." (RR, 6)

Navin spoke with Brown about this deal. Navin explained to Brown that the funds would remain in Respondent's trust account, so there was little risk. Since Brown had previously checked out Respondent, and being familiar with a lawyer's responsibilities with a trust account, he felt comfortable in investing in the transaction. Brown said that he did speak with Respondent by telephone prior to investing his money, to explain his concerns. He was worried about getting involved in an illegal scheme and about the money being released to Walton. Brown said that Respondent told him not to be concerned, that he had handled many of these transaction before, and that Brown's funds would be kept in his trust account. Respondent denies ever having any conversations with Brown about Brown's funds until after they were disbursed. (RR, 6-7)

Since Brown anticipated earning a 25% profit on his investment in a very short time, with little risk, Brown spoke with his friends, Richard Lawson ("Lawson") and Brandon Bury ("Bury") about this deal. Brown gave the names of possible investors to Navin, who passed them on to Walton. Respondent was provided with the information about potential investors and, at either Walton or Navin's request, Respondent prepared letters to five possible investors. These letters were on Respondent's letterhead, signed by him, dated February 1, 2008, and were addressed to Brown, Bury, Lawson, Azim Ramlize, and Lashon Toyer. Respondent sent these letters by e-mail to Navin. Respondent said that he understood that the letters would not be given to the addressees until after they had invested funds into his trust account. Respondent admitted that, at the time he signed the letters, he had not received any money from Lashon Toyer. (TFB #34, 245) The letters were dishonest and a misrepresentation. Respondent was actively involved in Walton's scheme.

Marion Reid ("Reid") is Lawson's mother. She is a registered nurse. Lawson spoke with her about the investment. Reid was initially hesitant. Lawson explained to her that the transaction was secure, as Navin assured him that the funds would remain in Respondent's trust account. Lawson showed her the five letters, and after seeing

them, she believed that all of the other addressees were investing. Reid understood that she would receive a profit of 25% on her investment. (RR, 7)

Bury is self-employed in a swimming pool chemical business. He discussed the investment with Brown, and understood that the funds were to remain in Respondent's trust account. Bury also understood that he would receive a 25% return on his investment. (RR, 7-8)

Bury deposited \$50,000.00 into Respondent's trust account on January 30, 2008. Brown deposited \$46,000.00 into Respondent's trust account on January 31, 2008. Reid deposited \$100,000.00 into Respondent's trust account on February 1, 2008. Respondent disbursed all of those funds from his trust account on February 4, 2008, acting on Meyer's instructions. Respondent did not seek permission from Brown, Reid or Bury before sending the monies from trust, because, in his opinion, the funds belonged to Meyer once they were deposited into the trust account. (RR, 8)

Respondent sent a letter to Brown on February 6, 2008, saying the same thing as the February 1, 2008, letter. On February 29, 2008, Respondent wrote letters to Brown and Reid, acknowledging a delay in the transaction. After some time passed, Brown contacted Respondent to ask about the transaction, and learned that the funds had been transferred from Respondent's trust account. (RR, 8)

The Referee found that Respondent has violated Rule 5-1.1(b), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. (RR, 14) The Referee concluded that Respondent's misconduct was not deliberate and intentional. He acted in a negligent manner. (RRS, 5) thus, the Referee recommends that Respondent be found not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(c), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The Florida Bar disagrees.

The Florida Bar cannot locate the missing money. Respondent did receive \$25,000 of it, which he claims were legal fees.

The facts become clear when the focus is on Respondent and the alleged rule violations. The abbreviated "in a nutshell" version of the facts are repeated here:

Respondent assured potential investors in real estate development projects that, if they invested by putting their money into his trust account, that it would stay there. He provided one of the investors with a written assurance of that fact. The purpose of the money was to act as collateral to convince a bank to issue a standby letter of credit. The investor's money would be returned with huge interest to them in a short period of time. Respondent drafted and signed two letters containing false statements in order to convince another of the investors to participate. Four investors sent a total of \$492,000 to Respondent's trust account. Respondent transferred the money out without their permission, paid a prior investor from the funds of one of the four, lied to them about

the whereabouts of the money, and refused to provide an accounting for the money.

Most of the money has disappeared.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee's recommendation that Respondent's misconduct was negligent is clearly erroneous. It was deliberate and knowing, which satisfies the intent requirement of Rule 4-8.4(c). Respondent was involved in the solicitation of a client, refused to provide accountings for the missing money, signed false letters, and participated in a Ponzi scheme. That cannot be negligent. The recommended findings should be approved regarding Rule 5-1.1(b), but disapproved regarding Rule 4-8.4(c). Respondent is guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(c).

The sanction recommendation of a 90-day suspension and 3 years probation does not have a reasonable basis in existing case law nor in the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. This misconduct is extremely egregious and must be strongly deterred. Disbarment is the appropriate sanction.

ARGUMENT

The Referee's conclusion of law and findings of fact with regard to Rule 5-1.1(b) should be approved. The Referee's findings of fact and conclusions of law with regard to Rule 4-8.4(c) are clearly erroneous and the Court should find Respondent guilty of violating that rule.

The Referee's fact findings are presumptively correct and should not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Vining, 707 So.2d 670, 672 (Fla. 1998). In this case, the referee's findings are clearly erroneous.

The Supreme Court's scope of review in attorney discipline actions is broader for legal conclusions than it is for the factual findings. The Florida Bar v. Joy, 679 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1996). In this case, the referee erred in failing to find guilt of Rule 4-8.4(c).

In reviewing a referee's recommended discipline against an attorney, the Supreme Court's scope of review is broader than that afforded to the referee's findings of fact because it is the Court's ultimate responsibility to order the appropriate sanction. Generally speaking, the Supreme Court will not second-guess the referee's recommended discipline against an attorney as along as it has a reasonable basis in

existing case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. <u>The Florida Bar v. Rodriguez</u>, 959 So.2d 150 (Fla. 2007). In this case, the recommended discipline does not have a reasonable basis in existing case law or the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

ISSUE I

THE MISCONDUCT WAS DELIBERATE OR KNOWING.

The intent element required for a finding of guilt of Rule 4-8.4(c) can be satisfied merely by showing that the conduct was deliberate or knowing. The Florida Bar v. Brown, 905 So.2d 76 (Fla. 2005).

A. The letters which Respondent wrote to Lashon Toyer and Azim Ramlize on February 1, 2008, were false and dishonest.

Respondent was actively involved in soliciting investors. He prepared letters on his letterhead, signed by him, dated February 1, 2008, and they were addressed to Brown, Bury, Lawson, Azim Ramlize, and Lashon Toyer. Respondent sent these letters by email to Navin. (RR, 7) The letter to Azim Ramlize was a letter of undertaking indicating that Ramlize had invested \$69,000 in the project. (TFB #33, Ex. 15; TFB #1, Ex. 72) Ramlize had not invested any money in the project and Respondent, at the time he signed the letter, knew that Ramlize had not done so. (TFB #34, 243) His letter was dishonest.

The letter to Lashon Toyer was a letter of undertaking that Toyer had invested \$25,000 in the project. Toyer had not invested any money in the project and Respondent, at the time he signed the letter, knew that Toyer had not invested. (TFB

#34, 245; TFB #1, Ex. 71) The letter was designed to convince Reid to invest. It was dishonest.

When these letters were given to Reid, she believed that Ramlize and Toyer had invested, and this convinced her to invest her own money in the amount of \$100,000, taken from a line of credit on her home (TFB #33, 136-138). Neither Ramlize nor Toyer ever invested any money in the project. (TFB #34, 211)

Respondent's misconduct in signing and sending these letters was deliberate and knowing, and he has therefore violated Rule 4-8.4(c).

B. The evidence establishing a Ponzi scheme shows deliberate or knowing misconduct.

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