#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,	Case No. SC09-2022
v.	TFB File Nos. 2008-00,715(8B) 2009-00,113(8B)
WILLIAM BEDFORD WATSON, III,	2009-00,113(8B) 2009-00,116(8B) 2009-00,142(8B)
Respondent.	/

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF**

John A. Weiss Attorney Number 0185229 John A. Weiss, P.A. 2937 Kerry Forest Parkway, Suite B-2 Tallahassee, Florida 32309 (850) 893-5854 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

## **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Respondent asks this Court to uphold the Referee's finding that Respondent's conduct did not constitute a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c) as charged in Counts I and III of the Bar's complaint. The Referee's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence. The Bar's request that this Court reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for the Referee is contrary to this Court's long-standing policy. Florida Bar v. Head, 27 So.3d 2, 7 (Fla. 2010). The Bar cannot meet its burden of proving error on the Referee's part merely by pointing to contradictory evidence in the record. Head, p. 7.

The Referee properly recommended that Respondent receive a 90-day suspension, retroactive to October 1, 2009 (the date his emergency suspension began) to be followed by three years' probation. Both the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Discipline and Florida case law support his recommendation. This Court has repeatedly stated that it will not second-guess a Referee's recommended

discipline if it has a reasonable basis in the Standards and with this Court's prior decisions. <u>Head</u>, p. 8. The Referee's recommendation meets both of those criteria. The discipline that he recommended should be imposed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Simply put, the Bar did not meet the burden imposed on it by this Court to prove a violation of Rule 4-8.4 (c) by clear and convincing evidence. Florida Bar v. Rayman, 238 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1970). This Court has defined clear and convincing as:

[C]lear and convincing evidence requires that the evidence must be found to be credible; the facts to which the witnesses testify must be distinctly remembered; the testimony must be precise and explicit and the witnesses must be lacking in confusion as to the facts in issue. The evidence must be of such weight that it produces in the mind of the trier of fact a firm belief or conviction, without hesitancy, as to the truth of the allegations sought to be established. (Emphasis supplied.)

Inquiry Concerning a Judge, No. 93-62, Re: Kevin Davey, 645 So.2d 398, 404 (Fla. 1994).

In the case at bar the Referee had the advantage of observing Respondent's testimony on three occasions. He also observed the testimony of Karl Brown on two occasions, the testimony of Steven Hooks twice, and the testimony of Marian Reid once. The Referee, in such situations, is in the favored position to judge the credibility of the witnesses. After reviewing all the exhibits, and after gauging the

credibility of the witnesses, he found that Respondent was not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(c), conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation as charged in Counts I (Hooks) and III (Reid). Respondent was not charged with violating that rule as to Counts II (Brown) and IV (Bury). Obviously, the grievance committee did not believe Brown's story that Respondent told Brown that his money would never leave Respondent's trust account or the committee would have found probable cause for a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c) as to Brown. Respondent did not speak with Bury before the transaction and, accordingly, no such accusation could be made. To the extent that the testimony of Hooks and Reid was inconsistent with that of Respondent's, the Referee chose to believe the latter. His resolution of the conflicting evidence should not be disturbed by this Court. See, Florida Bar v. Head, 27 So.3d 2, 7 (Fla. 2010):

The Court has a long-established and clear standard regarding a referee's credibility findings: The Court defers to the referee's assessment and resolution of conflicting testimony because the referee is in the best position to judge the credibility of the witnesses. <u>Fla.</u> Bar v. Batista, 846 So.2d 479 (Fla. 2003).

#### **ISSUE I**

## RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT WAS NOT DELIBERATE OR KNOWING

The Bar misstates the law when it says that a finding of conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation can be found by "merely" showing deliberate or knowing misconduct. The Bar must still prove wrongful intent. And, it must do so by clear and convincing evidence. Florida Bar v. Neu, 597 So. 2d 266, 269 (Fla. 1992); Florida Bar v. Lumley, 517 So. 2d 13, 14 (Fla. 1987).

Conduct that is deliberately done is not necessarily conduct done with a wrongful motive. Bar Counsel's conduct at final hearing is a case in point. At final hearing Bar Counsel unequivocally stated that the Bar never received Respondent's discovery. He was emphatic:

The deadline was the 20<sup>th</sup>. It was over a week ago. And he did not comply....he says that he hand-delivered the documents to the Bar. Perhaps someone he thought did but no one did. Since we have not received these documents previously, we object to their introduction.

TR 181, 182.

Counsel deliberately and knowingly made those statements to the Referee at final hearing. As his superior's letter of apology dated June 11, 2010 (subsequently filed with the Referee) made clear, those statements were wrong. Under the standard the Bar asks the Court to adopt, his conduct violated Rule 4-8.4(c)

because he deliberately made inaccurate statements. Respondent argues, however, that the analysis must go one step further: were those statements made with wrongful intent? Of course not! Counsel was mistaken. Mistakes, or misunderstandings, occur in life. A wrongful statement, or confusion over an issue, does not automatically equate to dishonesty or fraud or deceit or misrepresentation.

## A. The letters Respondent wrote to Lashon Toyer and Azim Ramize on February 1, 2008 were not false or dishonest.

The Bar incorrectly states that Respondent was actively involved in soliciting investors. No such evidence exists and the Referee made no such finding. Respondent did not have anything to do with bringing Hooks to the table with Meyer. Nor did he bring Brown, Reid, or Bury to the table for the Walton/Meyer investment that they made. Indeed, Respondent never even spoke to Reid or Bury. Brown and Bury had already invested their funds before Respondent authored the five February 1, 2008 letters. CEX 15. Only Reid was shown the letters before she invested. And, she received those letters from Navin, who was trying to make a commission and who was pressuring her and her son, Lawson, into investing in the deal.

Respondent's testimony about the letters is uncontroverted. He was told by Navin that the five investors, Brown, Bury, Lawson/Reid, Ramlize and Toyer

investments were guaranteed. Relying on Navin's word, clearly a mistake, Respondent authored the five letters. He emailed them to Navin with the specific understanding that Navin would not deliver them until the deposit was made. The Brown letter was accurate in all respects. Bury had invested but Navin had the figure wrong—it was \$50,000 rather than the \$100,000 Navin relayed.

Lawson/Reid were, indeed, contemplating the investment of \$100,000. As we now know, neither Ramlize or Toyer invested.

The five letters, unbeknownst to Respondent, and contrary to Respondent's directions, were emailed to Lawson in an attempt by Navin to get a recalcitrant Reid to invest. The letter that had the most impact on her, Judge Brown's, was exactly accurate.

It cannot be said that Respondent's authoring two letters that turned out to be inaccurate (out of a group of five) constitutes dishonest conduct when Respondent emailed them to Navin with the specific instruction that he hold on to them until the investment is met. Most importantly, there is no evidence that any of the letters other than the Lawson letter was ever intended to go to Reid. In fact, Respondent was told that her son, Richard Lawson, was the investor.

The Bar is simply wrong in its argument that the letters were designed to get Reid to invest. Why would the two inaccurate letters be the deciding factor rather

than the two accurate letters? Contrary to the Bar's argument, Reid did not testify that the Ramlize and the Toyer letters "convinced her" to invest.

Finally, the allegation of dishonest conduct as to Brown, Bury and Reid was limited to the latter's count, Count III. The charging document, the Bar's Complaint, alleges that the letters were sent directly to Reid in an attempt to convince her to invest. That allegation is untrue. The letters were given to her by her son, who received them from Navin.

In retrospect, Respondent should have waited for confirmation of the investments before he sent the letters to Navin. His doing so can hardly be deemed dishonest when he was gave specific directions that they were not to be sent out by Navin until the funds were deposited.

#### B. The evidence did not establish a Ponzi Scheme.

There is no Ponzi scheme. One payment, only one, was used to pay a prior investor. There are no tiers of investors. There is no evidence of a scheme.

The Bar's auditor's status as an expert was challenged because he is a biased witness, i.e., he works for the Bar. He supports his employer's position. No neutral authority came forth to opine that paying one investor, not a series of investors but ONE investor, with the proceeds of another loan is a Ponzi Scheme.

The Bar points to no authority to establish that one payment is sufficient to establish a scheme.

The facts are that \$175,000 of Hooks' \$300, 000 went to Meyer; \$196,000 of the Brown/Reid/Bury money went to lawyer Cullege's trust account for the benefit of Coddington, Meyer's agent. There is no pattern, no scheme.

The Florida Bar in Count I (Hooks) did not charge Respondent with engaging in a Ponzi Scheme. They raised it for the first time at final hearing. The Referee rejected their arguments.

#### C. Respondent's failure to provide an accounting is not dishonest conduct.

This argument is so vague and of such a slap-dash manner that Respondent is having difficulty responding to it. Without citing a case or a rule the Bar claims that refusing to provide an accounting to a nonclient is dishonest conduct and, somehow, a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c). While such a failure might possibly be a violation of Rule 5-1.1(b), it is not under the circumstances of the instant case a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c).

# D. The Referee rejected the Bar's arguments that Respondent's conduct as to the Hooks transaction involved dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation.

Hooks is a sophisticated investor who entered into a deal with Meyer independent of Respondent. He was blinded by the opportunity to get a 100% return on his investment in 48 hours. Apparently, this sophisticated investor and financial consultant believed that a 100% return on \$300,000 in 48 hours was

"risk-free". That is preposterous. No transaction with that kind of return is risk free and Hooks knew it.

Hooks testified that Respondent told him Hooks' funds would stay in trust. Respondent denied it. The Referee, who had the opportunity to observe both men on the stand on two occasions, did not find that Respondent violated Rule 4-8.4(c). To challenge the Referee's findings in this regard the Bar:

must show that there is a lack of evidence in the record to support such findings or that the record clearly contradicts the referee's conclusions; this burden cannot be met merely by pointing to contradictory evidence when there is substantial competent evidence in the record supporting the referee's findings. Fla. Bar v. Glueck, 985 So.2d 1052, 1056 (Fla. 2008).

Florida Bar v. Head, 27 So.3d 3 (Fla. 2010) at page 7.

Documentary evidence supports Respondent's version of his conversations with Hooks. CEX 3, 5; CEX 1-73. Accordingly, there is "competent, substantial evidence in the record,..." supporting the Referee's findings and the Court "will not reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the referee." Florida Bar v. Head, supra, page 7.

The Bar's only pointing to CEX 4 as support for its argument is somewhat misleading to this Court. There was a previous email from Respondent to Hooks on January 8, 2008. CEX 3. There was also a corrective letter emailed to Hooks by Meyer within 90 minutes of CEX 4 going out. CEX 5, CEX 1-73. While

Hooks has acknowledged receiving CEX 4, which supports his position, he denied receiving CEX 3, 5 and CEX 1-73. The latter three exhibits clearly contradict Hooks' position and support Respondent's.

The first letter, CEX 3, was sent to Hooks by Respondent on January 8, 2008. It states in material part:

This transaction is a short term unsecured loan for the benefit of Jason Myers (sic)....

Mr. Meyer will utilize the loan proceeds in a financial transaction with one of his banks.

Subsequently, Respondent and Hooks had telephone conversations during which Hooks stated that it was his understanding that his funds would stay in trust. Because Respondent was not part of the negotiations between Hooks and Meyer, Respondent took Hooks' word as true, wrote CEX 4 and emailed it to Hooks at 11:50 a.m. on January 16, 2008. Less than 90 minutes later Respondent received a corrective email letter from Meyer with the language about Hooks' funds staying in trust being crossed out and substituting contrary language. CEX 5. Hooks says he got CEX 4 but denies getting CEX 5. The email string for CEX 3 and 4 was presented to the grievance committee as evidence. It is admitted into these proceedings as CEX 1-73. It clearly shows Respondent's email to Jason and Steve at 11:50 a.m. and Meyer's correction at 1:18 p.m. on the same day. Both Respondent's and Meyer's emails use the correct email address for Hooks, i.e.,

hookshomes@yahoo.com. Hooks only admits getting the first letter. He offered no explanation why the second letter from Meyer, sent to the same address as the first letter, did not arrive. The Referee could well have relied on this discrepancy in deciding to believe Respondent and not Hooks. As a trained jurist, he also could have relied on body language, gestures, hesitation and other means of gauging credibility that simply are not apparent to this Court during judicial review of these proceedings.

The Bar has argued throughout these proceedings that a lawyer's responsibility to third party investors is superior to his duty to his client. The Bar at one point argued that Respondent had a duty to warn the investors that he had never met his client (a rather ludicrous position to take in this age of interstate clients and electronic communications). The Bar seems to take the position that Respondent had the duty to warn these investors seeking pie in the sky returns (Hooks getting 100% return on a 48-hour investment and Brown/Reid/Bury getting 25% return on two weeks) that their investments might not be wise. That is not the rule. Nor should it be.

On page 22 of its brief, the Bar states that it cannot locate much of the money not returned to the investors. How hard did it try? There is no evidence it contacted Meyer or Coddington or Coddington's lawyer, into whose trust account the entire corpus of the Brown/Reid/Bury funds went. The auditor's flow charts,

CEX 22, 23 and 24, showed exactly where the funds went. There is no factual basis for the Bar's statement about missing money.

The Bar erroneously implies that the \$25,000 in fees Respondent received from the Nielsen \$250,000 loan to Meyer on March 19, 2008 (seven weeks after the Brown/Reid/Bury investment) to her relative Jason Meyer is part of the so-called missing funds. That is not true. There is no evidence even remotely suggesting that Respondent's \$25,000 fee came from the four complainants' funds. And, that fee was for Respondent's efforts to get Mr. Meyer's first letter of credit funded.

Basically, Issue I, parts A, B, C, and D, are nothing more than expressions of disagreement with the Referee's finding that Respondent did not violate Rule 4-8.4(d). His findings are based on substantial competent evidence. The Referee wrote an extremely well-thought out report and alluded to the evidence he thought was material. He had all four complainants before him and considered their testimony. As to conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit and misrepresentation (only charged in Counts I and III), he found for Respondent. The Bar has not met the burden imposed on it by Rule 3-7.6(c)(5) to demonstrate that the Referee's findings as to Rule 4-8.4(c) are erroneous, unlawful or unjustified. There is abundant evidence to support the Referee's findings and recommendations.

#### **ISSUE II**

# THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE OF A 90-DAY SUSPENSION AND THREE YEARS PROBATION IS JUSTIFIED

Respondent has now been suspended for 13 months for conduct that the Referee who originally upheld Respondent's emergency suspension has now concluded merits no more than a 90-day suspension retroactive to the beginning of that suspension. After having heard all the evidence, and after hearing Respondent's testimony, under oath, on three occasions, this Court's Referee has concluded that the misconduct was the result of negligence and was without improper motive. This Court should adhere to its long-standing policy that it:

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